FILED

November 18, 2015 Court of Appeals Division State of Washington 92546-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW5-13
	A. THIS CASE INVOLVES ISSUES OF SIGNIFICANT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE REGARDING FUNDAMENTALLY IMPORTANT PROPERTY RIGHTS
	B. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN <i>Palmer v. Jensen</i> and <i>Cyrus v. Martin</i> 8-9
	C. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH OTHER COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS9-10
	D. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION IGNORES THE JURY'S FACTUAL FINDINGS IN CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS AND CONSTRUES THE VERDICT CONTRARY TO THE JURY'S FACTUAL FINDINGS
VI.	CONCLUSION13
VII.	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE14
VIII.	APPENDIX15
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

\mathcal{U}		
Alvarez v. Keyes, 76 Wn. App. 741, 743, 887 P.2d 496, 497 (1995)12		
Blue Chelan, Inc. v. Department of Labor & Indus., 101 Wn.2d 512, 514-515, 681 P.2d 233 (1984)12		
Cyrus v. Martin, 64 Wn.2d 810, 394 P.2d 369 (1964)		
Espinoza v. Am. Commerce Ins. Co., 184 Wn. App. 176, 197, 336 P.3d 115, 125-26 (2014)12		
Estate of Stalkup, 145 Wn. App. at 586, 187 P.3d 291 (2008)12		
Guijosa v. Wal–Mart Stores, Inc., 101 Wn. App. 777, 797, 6 P.3d 583 (2000), aff'd 144 Wash.2d 907, 32 P.3d 250 (2001)		
Krivanek v. Fibreboard Corp., 72 Wn. App. 632, 636-37, 865 P.2d 527 (1993)9		
Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 364, 13 P3d 183 (2000)		
Palmer v. Jensen, 132 Wn.2d 193, 198, 937 P.2d 597 (1997)		
State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 571, 62 P.3d 489 (2003)		
Statutes:		
RCW 4.24.630		

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Christian Ryser is seeking review of the Court of Appeals decision filed in this cause.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ryser seeks review of the unpublished Court of Appeals (Div. I) decision filed on October 19, 2015; *Ryser v. Ernest et al.*, attached as Appendix A.

This petition arises from the Ernest respondents directing a contractor to pile landslide material on Ryser's former property which completely blocked the driveway that provided the only access to Ryser's former waterfront home. It is undisputed that Ryser's former driveway was cleared and open before Ernest had a contractor block it with landslide debris. It is also undisputed that the value of Ryser's former property was greater with an open driveway than with a blocked driveway. On a special verdict form, the jury found Ryser had proven his trespass claims against the Ernest respondents. However, the jury awarded "zero" damages for Ryser's trespass claims. The trial court denied Ryser's motions for additur or new trial on the issue of trespass damages. In its unpublished opinion, a panel of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court and implicitly adopted (1) a new measure of damages for trespass based upon the amount of time the driveway was open instead of the difference in value before and after the trespass, and (2) a new rule of law that exempts one from trespass liability if the trespass is preceded by a gratuitous act.

Because the issues of whether a new measure of trespass damages and an exemption from trespass damages should be adopted are questions of substantial public importance and because the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court and others, petitioner asks the Court to grant review, reverse, and remand for a new trial on the issue of statutory trespass damages and determination of costs and attorneys' fees for the statutory trespass claim.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Does a gratuitous act exempt one from trespass liability under RCW 4.24.630?
- (2) Are trespass damages under RCW 4.24.630 measured by the amount of time between a gratuitous act and the trespass, or by the difference in value of the property before and after the trespass?
- (3) Was the jury verdict internally inconsistent?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A driveway is at the center of this dispute and the narrow issues on appeal. The driveway provided the only access to Ryser's former waterfront property and home on Vashon Island. The driveway began up hill on Respondents John and Margaret Ernest's vacation property, then traveled down the slope towards the water in a series of three switchbacks, and ended with a level parking area, partially on Ryser's former property and partially on the Ernests' property, near Quarter Master Harbor.

The last switchback, which is closest to Ryser's former home and the water, was on Ryser's former property. It is uncontested that the Ernests do not own any portion of the land under the driveway's last switchback closest to Ryser's former home.

In November 2010, the dispute between the parties was escalating, and Ryser sought and was granted protection orders against John and Margaret Ernest and Thomas Ernest after Thomas Ernest parked a derelict

truck at the bottom of the driveway blocking the parking area and the Ernest admitted to carrying guns around the property. (RP at 299-300).

A few months later, there was a landslide that blocked the driveway. (RP at 439-42). The last switchback closest to Ryser's former home was covered in debris. During July 2011, Ryser was out of town and a friend, Philip Balcom, was checking in on Ryser's former home and getting Ryser's mail. (RP at 91). Balcom saw an excavator in Ryser's front yard digging up the parking area at the end of the driveway. The Ernests' had hired an excavation company to clear the debris from the landslide and open up the driveway so that they could retrieve the derelict truck. (RP at 92). The derelict truck had been removed. Balcom walked up the driveway and noticed that the landslide blocking the driveway had been cleared and excavator work had been done "down the whole entire driveway." (RP at 94-95 and 115).

When Balcom returned to the property a week later, the last switchback that had previously been cleared of debris was now covered again in debris. (RP at 102). John Ernest admitted that he had instructed the excavator to block the road after retrieving the derelict truck. (RP at 858-59 and 865) Following Ernest's instructions, the excavator completely blocked off Ryser's driveway at the top and middle making the driveway impassible. (RP at 146-48 and 153-54).

Ryser was unable to sell the property because of the lack of access and it was lost in foreclosure at the end of 2011. (RP at 320). Ryser filed his complaint in July 2012. (CP at 1). While the lawsuit was pending, Daniel Lincoln purchased the property from Freddie Mac for \$126,000. Mr. Lincoln testified that the price he paid was for the property without driveway access, and he admitted that if access could be restored, the property would substantially increase in value. (RP at 547 and 54).

The trial court summed up Ryser's statutory trespass claim in ruling on the Ernests' motion for directed verdict:

The point is, is that there was a period of time ... -- after the Ernest had done what they did, where the road was passable. They could have left it that way. They chose not to. That's my point. They went back on his land, they trespassed on his land and made the road impassable — unpassable again. They decided to do that. The fact that the road was now unpassable is a damage to Mr. Ryser.

(RP at 751). The Ernests' motion was denied. (RP at 752). The Ernests did not come forward during their case in chief with evidence that the value of Ryser's former property after the driveway had been opened up by the Ernests' gratuitous act remained the same after the Ernests had Ryser's driveway blocked by debris. No evidence was offered or admitted that the property's value with an open driveway was the same as with a blocked driveway. All evidence was to the contrary – the property's value was greater with an open driveway than with a blocked driveway.

Ryser's claims for easement interference, trespass, nuisance, interference with business expectation, and intentional infliction of emotional distress were submitted to the jury. (CP at 79). The Court's Instruction No. 5 on trespass is attached as Appendix B. (CP at 85). The jury returned its verdict, which is attached as Appendix C. (CP at 77). The jury found: (a) Ryser proved his claim of trespass against John and Margaret Ernest and Thomas Ernest; (b) Ryser proved "any of his remaining claim(s) against Thomas Ernest, and/or John and Margaret Ernest;" and (c) Ryser was damaged by the claims proved. Appendix C;

(CP at 77). The jury awarded "Zero" for trespass, \$201,581 for economic damages, and "Zero" for non-economic damages. *Id*.

Ryser moved the trial court for additur or new trial only on the issue of damages for his proven trespass claim. (CP at 163). Ryser also moved the trial court for an award of costs including reasonable attorneys' fees for his proven trespass claim. (CP at 100). The trial court denied Ryser's motions and entered final judgment. (CP at 292 and 294).

Ryser appealed the trial court's denial of Ryser's motions for additur or new trial and for attorneys' fees under RCW 4.24.630(1). The Ernest respondents did not cross-appeal any issue. The appellate court affirmed the trial court in an unpublished opinion.

V. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

This Petition for Review should be accepted by the Supreme Court because (1) this petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, and (3) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b).

A. THIS CASE INVOLVES ISSUES OF SIGNIFICANT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE REGARDING FUNDAMENTALLY IMPORTANT PROPERTY RIGHTS.

Washington courts have consistently recognized that the right to exclude others is a fundamental attribute of property ownership. *Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 347, 364, 13 P3d 183 (2000). Moreover, property rights are so important in Washington that the legislature imposes treble damages as well as costs and attorneys' fees on those who go onto the land of another and

wrongfully cause waste or injury. RCW 4.24.630(1). Whether the common law should grant immunity to trespassers, who first act gratuitously, or create an exemption from statutory trespass liability if the trespass is preceded by a gratuitous act are issues of significant public importance because of their impact on fundamentally important property rights in Washington.

In this case there are undisputed critical facts: (1) before Ernest had a contractor dump debris on Ryser's former property, the driveway was open, and (2) the debris Ernest had the contractor dump on Ryser's property completely blocked the driveway and access to Ryser's former waterfront home. Additionally, both Ryser and Mr. Lincoln testified that the value of the property was more with an open driveway and less with a blocked driveway. (RP at 547, 549, and 661). There is no evidence in the record that Ryser's former waterfront property had the same value with an open driveway before the Ernests' trespass as with a blocked driveway after the Ernests' trespass.

In ruling on the Ernests' motion for directed verdict, the trial court refused to recognize immunity or an exemption based upon the Ernests' gratuitous act of opening the driveway for their own purpose to retrieve the derelict truck:

... So before the mudslide happened at all we had a value of a property that had a passable road. Nature interfered. The value of the property decreased because of that. The Ernests came in for their own reasons, made the road passable again. Now the property is back where it was in terms of its value prior to the mudslide. Then the

¹ E.g., RP at 94-95,858, and 865.

² E.g., RP at 146, and 153-154.

Ernests decided, you know what? We're going to come back on the property and make the road impassable. An that's – that caused them damage. So the claim for these purposes survives, because they caused damage to the roadway. They made it impassable after it was passable.

(RP at 752). In order to reason there was sufficient credible evidence in the record to support the jury's award of "zero" damages for trespass, the appellate court had to adopt a common law exemption to liability for statutory trespass based upon the Ernests' gratuitous act of opening up the driveway for their own purpose, or a new common law measurement of damages for trespass that is based upon the length of time between the gratuitous act and the trespass.

This Court should accept review to decide these important public issues that impact fundamental property rights in Washington and alter the legislative mandates regarding statutory trespass: that "[e]very person who goes onto the land of another and who ... wrongfully causes waste or injury to the land, or wrongfully injures ... improvements to real estate on the land, is liable to the injured party for treble the amount of the damages caused by the ... waste or injury;" that recoverable damages include but are not limited to "damages for the market value of the property ... injured;" and that the trespass is also "liable for reimbursing the injured party for the party's reasonable costs ... and reasonable attorneys' fees and other litigation related costs." RCW 4.24.630(1).

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN *PALMER V. JENSEN AND CYRUS V. MARTIN.*

It is an abuse of discretion to deny a motion for a new trial where the verdict is contrary to the evidence. *Palmer v. Jensen*, 132 Wn.2d 193, 198, 937 P.2d 597 (1997). The legislature did not provide immunity to a trespasser under RCW 4.24.630 who first acts gratuitously and did include a different measurement of damages for trespass under RCW 4.24.630 based upon the amount of time that passes between the gratuitous act and the trespass. Thus, unless Washington adopts such immunity and measurement of damages as part of the common law, the jury's award of "zero" damages for the trespass is contrary to the undisputed evidence. Accordingly, the appellate court's opinion conflicts with this Court's *Palmer* decision.

The appellate court opinion also conflicts with this Court's *Palmer* decision because the appellate court reasons that the jury did not have to believe the undisputed testimony that the property was less valuable with a blocked driveway than with an open driveway. Slip op. at 21. In *Palmer*, this Court pointed out that in cases where the damage award is outside the range of evidence, the argument that a jury does not have to believe undisputed evidence does not prevail. *Palmer*, 132 Wn.2d at 200.

The appellate court's reasoning that the jury could disregard all of the undisputed testimony by Mr. Lincoln, who purchased the property from Freddie Mac, as well as Ryser's own testimony that the value of the property was less with a blocked driveway than with an open driveway is contrary to this Court's decision in *Cyrus v. Martin*, 64 Wn.2d 810, 394 P.2d 369 (1964). The *Cyrus* court held that where a jury failed to take into account and it was unreasonable to reject or disregard all evidence, which

was unrebutted, on one element of damages, the jury arrived at an erroneous verdict and substantial justice was not done. *Cyrus*, 64 Wn.2d at 811-812. Here, it is undisputed that the driveway was opened up by Ernests' gratuitous act. It is also undisputed that Ernests caused debris to be dumped onto the open driveway completely blocking the driveway. Because it is unreasonable for the jury to reject all of the unrebutted testimony that the property's value was greater with an open driveway and lesser with a blocked driveway, the appellate court opinion conflicts with this Court's *Cyrus* decision.

This case presents the Court with an opportunity to reaffirm its prior decisions that a new trial is warranted where the verdict is contrary to the evidence. It is also an opportunity for the Court to clarify the rule that a jury may disregard evidence if the verdict is within the range of substantial evidence, but the jury may not unreasonably disregard all undisputed evidence of one element of damages if the verdict rendered is outside the range of substantial evidence.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH OTHER COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS.

A verdict is contrary to the evidence if the damage award is outside the range of substantial evidence. *Krivanek v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 72 Wn. App. 632, 636-37, 865 P.2d 527 (1993). The appellate court's opinion conflicts with other Court of Appeals decisions such as *Krivanek* because it affirms a damage award that is contrary to the undisputed testimony and outside the range of substantial evidence in the record. In this case, it is undisputed that the property's value decreased with a blocked driveway. It is unreasonable to ignore all of the evidence on this issue. It is also undisputed that the Ernests caused an open driveway to be blocked with debris. Unless Washington adopts a common law immunity for trespass

that is preceded by a gratuitous act or a new common law measurement of damages for trespass based upon the length of time between the gratuitous act and the trespass, the appellate court decision conflicts with other decisions by the Court of Appeals that hold a verdict is contrary to the evidence if the damage award is outside the range of substantial evidence.

D. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION IGNORES THE JURY'S FACTUAL FINDINGS IN CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS AND CONSTRUES THE VERDICT CONTRARY TO THE JURY'S FACTUAL FINDINGS.

The jury answered a series of interrogatories on the special verdict form. (CP 77-78). The jury's findings were not challenged on appeal, and thus are verities on appeal. See State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 571, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). The jury positively found Ryser proved his statutory trespass claim. The jury positively found Ryser was damaged by his proven claims. Despite these consistent jury findings, the appellate court concludes the jury must not have found Ryser proved proximate cause or damages. The undisputed evidence does not support such a conclusion, and the jury's actual answers to interrogatories, which consistently state the jury's finding that Ryser proved his trespass claim, and that he was damaged by his proven claims, do not support such a conclusion. This case provides the Court with the opportunity to clarify the standard of review when a jury's findings in response to interrogatories are not challenged on appeal, and the issue before the appellate court is whether a damage award is contrary to the evidence and outside the range of substantial evidence in the record?

The Court of Appeals, in an attempt to reconcile the answers in the jury verdict, attempts to "pull back the curtain" and divine what the jury intended by its verdict. The Court of Appeals came up with its own theory

about why the jury would find the elements of trespass, including proximate cause and damages yet award zero for damages. The Court of Appeals supposed that the "jury either failed to find proximate cause or failed to establish the amount of his damages or both." However, a fair reading of the jury verdict mandates against the finding of the Court of The jury found that Plaintiff proved his claim of trespass Appeals. (Question 1), proved its remaining claims against Defendants (i.e. Business Interference, Question 2), proved that the Plaintiff was damages by the *claims* proved (Question 4), but found the damages for the trespass claim to be zero. (Emphasis added) From a fair reading of the jury verdict, proximate cause and damages was established as to all of the "claims" (plural) proved, including the trespass claim. The Court of Appeals does not have the authority to determine which claims the jury found viable and which ones it did not find viable. Their opinion invades the province of the jury. The claims were presumptively proven and the damage award was inconsistent with the rest of the verdict.

The award of zero damages for the trespass claim is inconsistent unless the court can scour the record and find substantial evidence that the trespass <u>in fact</u> did not cause any damage. The evidence is just the opposite and is unrebutted that the trespass (the blocking the road after it was cleared and opened) caused damages to Plaintiff's property. The Ernests did not produce any evidence to show that the property was worth the same amount (a) with access and an open driveway before the Ernests' proven trespass, and (b) without access and a blocked driveway after the Ernests' proven trespass. The uncontroverted evidence is to the contrary. It is beyond legitimate controversy that the property value without driveway access significantly decreased from its value with access via an open driveway. It is also uncontroverted that the decrease in value was as

a result of the Ernests' proven trespass blocking the driveway on Ryser's former property with mud and debris. The jury's verdict of Zero damages for the trespass is outside of the range of the evidence.

The Court of Appeals' speculation that the jury might have found that blocking the road did not cause any damage to the property is just that, speculation. While the Court should attempt to reconcile a verdict, it should not pound a square peg into a round hole to accomplish the task of reconciliation. A verdict is irreconcilable when "the verdict contains contradictory answers to interrogatories making the jury's resolution of the ultimate issue impossible to determine." Estate of Stalkup, 145 Wn. App. 572, 586, 187 P.3d 291 (2008). In making this determination, this court reads the verdict as a whole, including instructions, and may not substitute its judgment for the jury's. Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 101 Wn. App. 777, 797, 6 P.3d 583 (2000), aff'd 144 Wn.2d 907, 32 P.3d 250 (2001); Estate of Stalkup, 145 Wn. App. at 586. Accord, Espinoza v. Am. Commerce Ins. Co., 184 Wn. App. 176, 197, 336 P.3d 115, 125-26 (2014) In this case, the Court of Appeals did substitute its judgment for that of the jury, which it cannot do. An appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that which is within the province of the jury. Blue Chelan, Inc. v. Department of Labor & Indus., 101 Wn.2d 512, 514-515, 681 P.2d 233 (1984); Alvarez v. Keyes, 76 Wn. App. 741, 743, 887 P.2d 496, 497 (1995)

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