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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

This Court's review of an intermediate appellate court's 

decision terminating review is discretionary. RAP 13.4. The Court 

will grant a petition for review only if the decision of the Court of 

Appeals is in conflict with a decision from this Court or with a 

decision from another Court of Appeals or if the petition involves an 

issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this 

Court.5 RAP 13.4(b)(1 )(2), (4). None of those situations exist here. 

Ryser's attempt to create a conflict where none exists is 

unavailing. Pet. at 8-9. Far from being in conflict with prior 

decisions from this Court or from another division of the Court of 

Appeals, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is consistent 

with Washington precedent. Nor can Ryser fairly claim this case 

represents an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Court. The case is fact-specific and inapplicable 

to the general citizenry of Washington based on the language used 

in the special interrogatories presented to the jury. Ryser's tortured 

interpretation of the jury's answers to those interrogatories and its 

resulting verdict do not merit review. 

5 Ryser does not assert grounds for review RAP 13.4(b)(3), which 
involves review of significant constitutional questions. Pet. at 5-12. 
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A. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With 
Long-Standing Washington Precedent 

Ryser claims review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision is allegedly inconsistent 

with decisions from this Court and from other Courts of Appeals. 

Pet. at 8-9. He manufactures a conflict where none exists. The 

Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Washington precedent 

addressing review of jury verdicts, additur, and new trials. 

Ryser argues, with little analysis, that the Court of Appeals 

decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in Palmer v. Jensen, 

132 Wn.2d 193, 937 P.2d 597 (1997) and Cyrus v. Martin, 

64 Wn.2d 810,394 P.2d 369 (1964). Pet. at 8-9. He also argues, 

again with little analysis, that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts 

with Krivanek v. Fibreboard Corp., 72 Wn. App. 632, 865 P.2d 527 

(1993). Pet. at 9-10. He reads these cases far too broadly, paying 

more attention to the specific outcomes than to the reasoning 

behind them. 

In Palme" a mother and son were injured in a car accident. 

132 Wn .2d at 195-96. At the conclusion of trial, the jury awarded 

Palmer and her son $8,414.89 and $34 respectively in special 

damages and no general damages. Palmer moved for a new trial, 

which the trial court denied. The Court of Appeals, Division II 
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affirmed. On further review, this Court noted that "[a]lthough there 

is no per se rule that general damages must be awarded to every 

plaintiff who sustains an injury, a plaintiff who substantiates her pain 

and suffering with evidence is entitled to general damages." ld at 

201. With regard to Palmer's son, the Court concluded that 

because his injuries were minimal and required little medical 

attention, the jury could reasonably conclude that he was not 

entitled to general damages for pain and suffering. With regard to 

Palmer, however, the Court reached the opposite conclusion 

because Palmer substantiated her claim of pain and suffering with 

uncontested evidence of continued pain more than two years after 

the accident. The Court found that she was entitled to a new trial 

on damages only and reversed. 

In Cyrus, Cyrus was injured when his pickup truck was struck 

from behind by an automobile driven by Martin. 64 Wn.2d at 811. 

The jury returned a verdict for Cyrus, which the trial court found to 

be inadequate. According to the court, substantial justice had not 

been done because the jury must have failed to take into account 

certain evidence concerning Cyrus's lost earnings. The court 

reasoned that, since the jury awarded only $500 in general 

damages and there was no dispute that the accident aggravated 
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Cyrus's pre-existing back condition, the award obviously did not 

include any substantial amount for lost earnings. The trial court 

observed that Martin did not contest Cyrus's claim that he had lost 

earnings as a consequence of his injuries and thus ordered a new 

trial on damages only. Martin appealed, arguing in part that the jury 

was entitled to reject the uncontradicted testimony of Cyrus and his 

witnesses. 

On appeal, this Court reiterated the principle that the 

granting of a motion for a new trial is within the sound discretion of 

the trial court. /d. at 812. Finding that the verdict was not within the 

range of undisputed testimony concerning Cyrus's lost earnings, 

the Court affirmed. /d. 

In Krivanek, Krivanek died of an asbestos exposure related 

illness. 72 Wn. App. at 633. His widow sued Owens-Corning 

Fiberglas ("OCF"). The jury awarded Krivanek's estate $90,000 on 

the product liability claims and $30,000 to his widow and $30,000 to 

their children together for their wrongful death and survival claims. 

The court offset the verdict by the total amount of the settlements 

paid to the widow prior to trial. The trial court denied the widow's 

motion for a new trial. The widow appealed, contending the award 

was inadequate because it was outside the range of evidence. 
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OCF assigned error to the court's failure to give certain proposed 

jury instructions. 

The Court of Appeals, Division I affirmed the product liability 

award and the wrongful death and survival award to the children. 

But it agreed that the wrongful death and survival award to the 

widow was inadequate. While the jury was not bound by the 

testimony of the widow's expert, it was bound by the unrebutted, 

uncontradicted evidence which formed the basis for those opinions 

and calculations: the evidence of the lost pensions and wages. 

Division I found that the trial court abused its discretion by 

unreasonably finding the damage award to be within the range of 

the evidence where the jury's award nowhere nearly approximated 

Krivanek's uncontroverted pension and wage losses. The court 

remanded for a retrial on the widow's damages only. /d. at 637. 

The critical detail that Ryser overlooks in his analysis is that 

Palmer and Cyrus assumed there was liability where the plaintiffs 

were injured in rear-end collisions. The whole point of those cases 

was whether the damages awarded were adequate in view of the 

undisputed liability of the defendants. Equally as important, the 

plaintiffs' damages were uncontroverted in Palmer, Cyrus, and 

Krivanek. That is certainly not the case here. 
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This is not a situation where the jury refused to believe 

testimony about uncontradicted or undisputed damages as 

occurred in Palmer, Cyrus, or Krivanek. Palmer, 132 Wn.2d at 200 

(noting defendant did not introduce any evidence disputing 

plaintiff's damages); Cyrus, 64 Wn.2d at 811 (noting defendant did 

not contradict plaintiff's evidence of lost earnings); Krivanek, 72 Wn. 

App. at 637 (noting jury's award of $30,000 on wrongful death claim 

was not within the range of uncontroverted evidence of pension and 

wage losses of nearly $300,000). Rather, the Ernests disputed 

every element of Ryser's trespass action.6 

For example, the Ernests presented evidence that Ryser 

carried a significant mortgage on the property and challenged the 

values he assigned to it before, during, and after his bankruptcy 

proceedings. They also presented evidence that Ryser had 

abandoned the property at least a month before the landslide 

occurred and that he had no intention of returning to the property in 

anytime thereafter. Furthermore, Ryser's own testimony called his 

credibility into question and militated against a finding that he was 

actually damaged by the Ernests' activities after the landslide. 

6 It is axiomatic that the Court is bound to the rule that in considering the 
issues raised by a motion for new trial, the evidence of the nonmoving party must 
be accepted as true and, together with all reasonable inferences that may be 
drawn therefrom, be interpreted in a light most favorable to that party. Davis v. 
Early Constr. Co., 63 Wn.2d 252, 386 P.2d 958 (1963). 
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Ryser admitted that his property was already blocked by the 

landslide, that he had not cleared the landslide in more than eight 

months and had no immediate plans to do so, and that he was not 

living at the property at the time of the Ernests' post-slide activities. 

Based on the jury instructions and the conflicting evidence 

presented, the jury was entitled to decide that no damages were 

awardable. The jury's verdict was within the range of that evidence; 

accordingly, the trial court had no discretion to disturb it. Herriman 

v. May, 142 Wn. App. 226, 232, 174 P.3d 156 (2007). Any 

inconsistencies in the evidence were matters affecting weight and 

credibility and, as such, were matters within the exclusive province 

of the jury. Dupea v. Seattle, 20 Wn.2d 285, 290, 147 P.2d 272 

(1944). 

Despite Ryser's best efforts to create a conflict justifying 

further review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), none exist. The Court 

of Appeals' analyzed the controlling decisions addressing jury 

verdicts, additur, and new trials and issued an opinion consistent 

with that precedent. Review is not warranted. 
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B. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Threaten A 
Substantial Public Interest 

Ryser also asserts, with little analysis, that a substantial 

public interest will be served if this Court accepts review because 

the Court of Appeals' decision impacts fundamental property rights. 

Pet. at 5-7. He is mistaken. The decision of the Court of Appeals 

does not implicate a "public interest," much less a "substantial 

public interest," warranting this Court's review. 

Criteria for determining the presence of a requisite degree of 

public interest include the public or private nature of the question, 

the desirability of an authoritative determination for future guidance 

of public officers, and the likelihood of future recurrence of the 

question. Seer e.g. 1 Sorenson v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 

558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). Rather than address those criteria, 

however, Ryser ignores them. Regardless, none of them apply. 

The questions involved in this litigation arise in the context of 

a private dispute, between private parties owning then-adjoining 

private properties. One can hardly imagine a dispute less involved 

with the general welfare of the public or in which the public as a 

whole has a stake than this one. This case links the interests of 

private parties only, interests in which the public has no stake 

whatsoever. Moreover, the real merits of the controversy are 
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settled; namely, the reverence to be paid to the jury's verdict when 

the parties have presented the jury with substantial and conflicting 

evidence on both sides of the issues being litigated. Finally, there 

is little likelihood the questions raised here will reoccur because 

they were generated by the specific special interrogatories the 

parties employed in this case rather than by jury instructions or 

case law equally applicable to the general citizenry. Ryser has no 

basis to seek review. 

Ryser's plea for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) should fall on 

deaf ears. The Court will not subvert a substantial public interest if 

it permits the decision of the Court of Appeals, which involves a 

matter of private interest between the parties, to stand without 

review. Review is not warranted. 

C. The Court Of Appeals Decision Applies The Proper 
Standard Of Review And Then Reconciles The Jury's 
Verdict Accordingly 

Finally, Ryser maintains further review is appropriate 

because the Court of Appeals decision "ignores the jury's factual 

findings in conflict with this Court's decisions and construes the 

verdict contrary to the jury's factual findings." Pet. at 10. He argues 

review is warranted to both clarify the applicable standard of review 

and the extent to which courts can reconcile a verdict or opine what 
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the jury was thinking when arriving at its verdict. Pet. at 10, 12. 

Even assuming arguendo that the Court did as Ryser suggests, his 

argument does not provide any basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). 

More to the point, the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard 

of review and then reconciled the jury's verdict accordingly. Further 

review is not warranted here. 

The Court of Appeals reviews the denial of a motion for new 

trial or for additur for an abuse of discretion. Palmer, 132 Wn.2d at 

197-98. Juries have considerable latitude in assessing damages; 

consequently, a jury verdict will not be lightly overturned. Herriman, 

142 Wn. App. at 232. The Court of Appeals will not disturb a jury 

award unless it is outside the range of substantial evidence, shocks 

the conscience of the Court, or was the result of passion or 

prejudice. RWR Mgmt., Inc. v. Citizens Realty Co., 133 Wn. App. 

265, 274, 135 P.3d 955 (2006); Bunch v. King County Dep't of 

Youth Servs., 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381 (2005). See also, 

Herriman, 142 Wn. App. at 232 ("A trial court has no discretion to 

disturb a verdict within the range of evidence."). 

To determine whether the trial court has abused its 

discretion, the Court of Appeals reviews the trial record. Palmer, 

132 Wn.2d at 197. If sufficient evidence supports the verdict, the 
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trial court abuses its discretion by ordering a new trial. /d. at 198. 

Evidence is sufficient to support the verdict where it is substantial. 

Haft v. N. Pac. Ry. Co., 64 Wn.2d 957, 960, 395 P.2d 482 (1964). 

The Court of Appeals reviews the evidence and all reasonable 

inferences that the evidence allows in favor of the non-moving 

party. /d. 

Ryser fails to recognize these fundamental principles and 

conflates the presumptions at issue as a consequence. Although 

he argues his claims were "presumptively proven" and "the damage 

award was inconsistent with the rest of the verdict," he is mistaken. 

Pet. at 11. As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, the jury's 

verdict is presumptively correct. RCW 4.76.030; Bunch, 155 Wn.2d 

at 179. See also, Lundquist v. Coca Cola Bottling, 42 Wn.2d 170, 

173, 254 P.2d 488, 490 (1953) (indulging the presumption granted 

to the respondent by the statute that the verdict of the jury was 

correct and restoring the verdict). Working from that presumption 

and within the appropriate legal framework, the Court of Appeals 

proceeded to ascertain the jury's intent and reconcile the answers 

to the special interrogatories. Slip op. at 17-23. In doing so, it 

construed the jury instructions and the special interrogatories in a 

way that avoided rendering any one of interrogatories meaningless 
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or superfluous. See, e.g., State ex rei. Upper v. Hanna, 87 Wash. 

29, 151 P. 83, 1087 (1915) (noting answers to special 

interrogatories should, if possible, be read harmoniously to support 

a judgment). 

Ryser fails to articulate any basis for review. The Court of 

Appeals did exactly as this Court instructed long ago. See, e.g., 

Cameron v. Stack-Gibbs Lumber Co., 68 Wash. 539, 544, 123 P. 

1001 ( 1912) (noting the first objective when construing a jury's 

verdict is to learn the jury's intent, which is to be arrived at by 

regarding the verdict liberally),· accord Bickelhaupt v. Inland Motor 

Freight, 191 Wash. 467, 469, 71 P.2d 403 (1937) (observing 

verdicts are to be construed liberally, and, if the intention of the jury 

can be reasonably ascertained therefrom, effect should be given to 

that intention). The Court should deny review. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Ryser fails to offer any basis under RAP 13.4(b) for review 

by this Court. The Court of Appeals decision in this case is correct 

and conforms to well-established Washington precedent. This 

Court should decline to revisit that decision. Review should be 

denied.